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Zigzag. n, adj, adv and vb:'. . . a pattern made up of many small corners at an acute angle, tracing a path between two parallel lines; it can be described as both jagged and fairly regular'.

'It is essential to seek out enemy agents who have come to conduct espionage against you and to bribe them to serve you. Give them instructions and care for them. Thus double agents are recruited and used.'

Sun Tzu, The Art of War

'War makes thieves and peace hangs them.'

George Herbert 
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The Hotel de la Plage 

Spring came early to the island of Jersey in 1939, and the sun that poured through the dining-room window of the Hotel de la Plage formed a dazzling halo around the man sitting opposite Betty Farmer with his back to the sea, laughing as he tucked into the six-shilling Sunday Roast Special 'with all the trimmings'. Betty, eighteen, a farm girl newly escaped from the Shropshire countryside, knew this man was quite unlike any she had met before.

Beyond that, her knowledge of Eddie Chapman was somewhat limited. She knew that he was twenty-four years old, tall and handsome, with a thin moustache–just like Errol Flynn in The Charge of the Light Brigade–and deep hazel eyes. His voice was strong but high-pitched with a hint of a north-eastern accent. He was 'bubbly', full of laughter and mischief. She knew he must be rich because he was 'in the film business' and drove a Bentley. He wore expensive suits, a gold ring and a cashmere overcoat with mink collar. Today he wore a natty yellow spotted tie and a sleeveless pullover. They had met at a club in Kensington Church Street, and although at first she had declined his invitation to dance, she soon relented. Eddie had become her first lover, but then he vanished, saying he had urgent business in Scotland. 'I shall go,' he told her. 'But I shall always come back.'


Good as his word, Eddie had suddenly reappeared at the door of her lodgings, grinning and breathless. 'How would you like to go to Jersey, then possibly to the south of France?' he asked. Betty had rushed off to pack.

It was a surprise to discover they would be travelling with company. In the front seat of the waiting Bentley sat two men: the driver a huge, ugly brute with a crumpled face; the other small, thin and dark. The pair did not seem ideal companions for a romantic holiday. The driver gunned the engine and they set off at thrilling speed through the London streets, screeching into Croydon airport, parking behind the hangar, just in time to catch the Jersey Airways plane.

That evening they had checked into the seafront hotel. Eddie told the receptionist they were in Jersey to make a film. They had signed the register as Mr and Mrs Farmer of Torquay. After dinner they moved on to West Park Pavilion, a nightclub on the pier, where they danced, played roulette, and drank some more. For Betty, it had been a day of unprecedented glamour and decadence. 

War was coming, everyone said so, but the dining room of the Hotel de la Plage was a place of pure peace that sunny Sunday. Beyond the golden beach, the waves flickered among a scatter of tiny islands, as Eddie and Betty ate trifle off plates with smart blue crests. Eddie was half way through telling another funny story, when he froze. A group of men in overcoats and brown hats had entered the restaurant and one was now in urgent conversation with the head waiter. Before Betty could speak, Eddie stood up, bent down to kiss her once, and then jumped through the window, which was closed. There was a storm of broken glass, tumbling crockery, screaming women and shouting waiters: Betty Farmer caught a last glimpse of Eddie Chapman sprinting off down the beach with two overcoated men in pursuit.



Here are just some of the things Betty did not know about Eddie Chapman: he was married; another woman was pregnant with his child; and he was a crook. Not some halfpenny bag-snatcher, but a dedicated professional criminal, a 'prince of the underworld', in his own estimation.

For Chapman, breaking the law was a vocation. In later years, when some sort of motive for his choice of career seemed to be called for, he claimed that the early death of his mother, in the TB ward of a pauper's hospital, had sent him 'off the rails' and turned him against society. Sometimes he blamed the grinding poverty and unemployment in northern England during the Depression for forcing him into a life of crime. But in truth, crime came naturally to him.

Edward Chapman was born in Burnopfield, a tiny village in the Durham coalfields, on 16 November 1914, a few months into the First World War. His father, a marine engineer and too old to fight, had ended up running The Clippership, a dingy pub in Roker, and drinking a large portion of the stock. For Eddie, the eldest of three children, there was no money, not much love, little in the way of guidance and only a cursory education. He soon developed a talent for misbehaviour, and a distaste of authority. Intelligent but lazy, insolent and easily bored, the young Chapman skipped school often, preferring to scour the beach for lemonade bottles, redeemable at a penny a piece, and then while away afternoons at the cinema in Sunderland: The Scarlet Pimpernel, and the Alfred Hitchcock films Blackmail and spy drama The Man Who Knew Too Much.

At the age of seventeen, after a brief and unsatisfactory stint as an unpaid apprentice at a Sunderland engineering firm, Chapman joined the army, although underage, and enlisted in the Second Battalion of the Coldstream Guards. Early in his training at Caterham he slipped while playing handball and badly gashed his knee: the resulting scar would provide police with a useful distinguishing feature. The bearskin hat and smart red uniform made the girls gawp and giggle, but he found sentry duty outside the Tower of London tedious, and the city beyond beckoned.

 Chapman had worn the guardsman's uniform for nine months when he was granted six days' leave. He told the sergeant major that he was going home. Instead, in the company of an older guardsman, he wandered around Soho and the West End, hungrily eyeing the elegant women draped over the arms of men in sharp suits. In a cafe in Marble Arch he noticed a pretty, dark-haired girl, and she spotted him. They danced at Smokey Joe's in Soho. That night he lost his virginity. She persuaded him to stay another night: he stayed for two months, until they had spent all his pay. Chapman may have forgotten about the army, but the army had not forgotten about him. He was sure the dark-haired girl told the police. Chapman was arrested for going absent without leave, placed in the military prison in Aldershot – the 'glasshouse' – and made to scrub out bedpans for eighty-four days. Release and a dishonourable discharge brought to an end his first prison sentence, and his last regular job. Chapman took a bus to London with £3 in his pocket, a fraying suit and a 'jail-crop haircut', and headed straight for Soho.

Soho in the 1930s was a den of notorious vice, and spectacular fun. This was the crossroads of London society where the rich and feckless met the criminal and reckless, a place of seamy, raucous glamour. Chapman found work as a barman, then as a film extra, earning £3 for 'three days doing crowd work'; he worked as a masseur, a dancer, and eventually as an amateur boxer and wrestler. He was a fine wrestler, physically strong, and lithe as a cat, with a 'wire and whipcord body'. This was a world of pimps and racecourse touts, pickpockets and con artists; late nights at Smokey Joe's and early champagne breakfasts at Quaglino's. 'I mixed with all types of tricky people,' Chapman wrote later. 'Racecourse crooks, thieves, prostitutes, and the flotsam of the night-life of a great city.' For the young Chapman, life in this seething, seedy enclave was thrilling. But it was also expensive. He acquired a taste for cognac and the gaming tables and was soon penniless.

The thievery started in a small way: a forged cheque here, a snatched suitcase there, a little light burglary. His early crimes were unremarkable, the first faltering steps of an apprentice.

In January 1935, he was caught in the back garden of a house in Mayfair, and fined £10. A month later he was found guilty of stealing a cheque and obtaining credit by fraud. This time the court was less lenient, and Chapman was given two months' hard labour in Wormwood Scrubs. A few weeks after his release, he was back inside, this time in Wandsworth Prison on a three-month sentence for trespassing and attempted housebreaking.

Chapman branched out into crimes of a more lurid nature. Early in 1936 he was found guilty of 'behaving in a manner likely to offend the public' in Hyde Park. Exactly how he was likely to have offended the public was not specified, but he was almost certainly discovered in flagrante delicto with a prostitute. He was fined £4 and made to pay a fee of 15 shillings 9d to the doctor who examined him for venereal disease. Two weeks later he was charged with fraud after he tried to evade payment of a hotel bill. 

One contemporary remembers a young man 'with good looks, a quick brain, high spirits and something desperate in him which made him attractive to men and dangerous to women'. Desperation may have led him to use the attraction of men for profit, for he once hinted at an early homosexual encounter. Women seemed to find him irresistible. According to one account, he made money by seducing 'women on the fringes of society', blackmailing them with compromising photographs taken by an accomplice and then threatening to show their husbands. It was even said that having 'infected a girl of 18 with VD, he blackmailed her by threatening to tell her parents that she had given it to him'.

Chapman was on a predictable downward spiral of petty crime, prostitution, blackmail and lengthening prison terms – punctuated by episodes of wild extravagance in Soho – when a scientific breakthrough in the criminal world abruptly altered his fortunes.

In the early 1930s British crooks discovered gelignite. At about the same time, during one of his stints inside, Chapman discovered James Wells Hunt – the 'best cracksman in London' – a 'cool, self-possessed, determined character' who had perfected a technique for taking apart safes by drilling a hole in the lock and inserting a 'French letter' stuffed with gelignite and water. Jimmy Hunt and Chapman went into partnership and were soon joined by Antony Latt, alias Darrington, alias 'Darry', a nerveless half Burmese burglar whose father, he claimed, had been a native judge. A young felon named Hugh Anson was recruited to drive their getaway car.

The newly formed ‘Jelly Gang’ selected, as its first target, Isobel's, a chic furrier in Harrogate. Hunt and Darry broke in and stole five minks, two fox-fur capes and £200 from the safe. Chapman remained in the car 'shivering with fear and unable to help'. The next was a pawnbroker's in Grimsby. While Anson revved the Bentley outside to cover the sound of the explosions, Chapman and Hunt broke into an empty house next door, cut their way through the wall, and then blew open four safes. The proceeds, sold through a fence in the West End, netted £15,000. This was followed by a break-in at the Swiss Cottage Odeon cinema using an iron bar, a hit on Express Dairies, and a smash-and-grab raid on a shop in Oxford Street. Escaping from the latter scene, Anson drove the stolen getaway car into a lamppost. As the gang fled, a crowd of onlookers gathered around the smoking vehicle; one, who happened to be a small-time thief, made the mistake of putting his hand on the bonnet. When his fingerprints were matched with Scotland Yard records, he was sentenced to four years in prison. The Jelly Gang found this most amusmg.

Chapman was no longer a reckless petty pilferer, but a criminal of means, spending money as fast as he could steal it, mixing with the underworld aristocracy, the gambling playboys, roue actors, alcoholic journalists, insomniac writers and dodgy politicians drawn to the demimonde. He became friendly with Noel Coward, Ivor Novello, Marlene Dietrich and the young filmmaker Terence Young (who would go on to direct the first James Bond film). Young was a suave figure who prided himself on his elegant clothes, his knowledge of fine wine and his reputation as a Lothario. Perhaps in imitation of his new friend, Chapman also began buying suits in Savile Row, and driving a fast car. He kept a table reserved at The Nest in Kingly Street, where he held court, surrounded by bottles and girls. Young remarked: 'He was able to talk on almost any subject. Most of us knew that he was a crook, but nevertheless we liked him for his manner and personality.'

Young found Chapman intriguing: he made no secret of his trade, yet there was an upright side to his character that the filmmaker found curious. 'He is a crook and will always be one,' Young observed to a lawyer friend. 'But he probably has more principles and honesty of character than either of us.' Chapman would steal the money from your pocket, even as he bought you a drink, but he never deserted a friend, nor hurt a soul. In a brutal business, he was a pacifist. 'I don't go along with the use of violence,' he declared many years later. 'I always made more than a good living out of crime without it.'


Chapman — careless, guiltless and Godless — revelled in his underworld notoriety. He pasted press clippings describing his crimes into a scrapbook. He was particularly delighted when it was reported that police suspected American gangs were behind the recent spate of safe-cracking because chewing gum had been found at the crime scenes (the Jelly Gang had merely used chewing gum to stick the gelignite to the safes). By the summer of 1935, they had stolen so much money that Chapman and Darry decided to rent a house in Bridport on the Dorset coast for an extended holiday; but after six weeks they grew bored and 'went back to "work"'. Chapman disguised himself as an inspector from the Metropolitan Water Board, gained access to a house in the Edgware Road, smashed a hole through the wall into the shop next door and extracted the safe. This was carried out of the front door, loaded into the Bentley and taken to Hunt's garage at 39, St Luke's Mews, Notting Hill, where the safe door was blown off.

Mixing with authors and actors, Chapman became conscious of his lack of education. He announced that he intended to become a writer, and began reading widely, plundering English literature in search of knowledge and direction. When asked what he did for a living, Chapman would reply, with a wink, that he was a 'professional dancer'. He danced from club to club, from job to job, from book to book, and from woman to woman. Late in 1935, he announced he was getting married, to Vera Freidberg, an exotic young woman with a Russian mother and a German-Jewish father. From her, Chapman picked up a grounding in the German language. But within a few months he had moved into a boarding house in Shepherd's Bush with another woman, Freda Stevenson, a stage dancer from Southend who was five years his junior. He loved Freda, she was vivacious and sassy; yet when he met Betty Farmer — his 'Shropshire Lass' — in the Nite Lite Club, he loved her too.

The Jelly Gang might mock the dozy coppers studying their abandoned chewing gum for clues, but Scotland Yard was beginning to take a keen interest in the activities of Edward Chapman. A 'gelignite' squad was formed. In 1938, the PoliceGazette published Chapman's mugshot, along with those of Hunt and Darry, as suspects in a recent spate of cinema safe breaks. Aware that the police were closing in, early in 1939 the gang loaded several golf bags packed with gelignite into the boot of the Bentley, and headed north. Having checked into an expensive hotel, they broke into the offices of the Edinburgh Co-operative Society, and emptied the safe. As Chapman was climbing out through a skylight, he smashed a pane of glass. A passing policeman heard it, and blew his whistle. The thieves fled over the back wall, and onto a railway line; one of the gang slipped, breaking an ankle, and was left behind. The others met up with car and driver and immediately headed south, but were intercepted by a police car, siren screaming. Chapman fled over a wall, but was caught. The four burglars were thrown into Edinburgh prison, but then, for reasons no-one can explain, Chapman was granted fourteen days bail at £150.

When Case Number Seventeen came before the Edinburgh High Court, it was found that Chapman and his accomplices had absconded. A general bulletin was issued, photographs were distributed, and every police force in Britain was told to be on the lookout for Eddie Chapman — crook, jailbird, adulterer, blackmailer, safe-cracker, Soho denizen and now among Britain's most wanted men. On 4 February 1939, the gang extracted £476 and 3 shillings from a Co-op store in Bournemouth. Darry had sent a letter to his girlfriend hinting that the gang was heading for Jersey; police intercepted it and a warning went out that the suspects might make for the Channel Islands, and then the Continent: 'Be prepared for trouble as one at least of the men might be armed and all are prepared to put up a fight to resist arrest.'

Which is how Eddie Chapman came to be pounding down a Jersey beach leaving in his wake two plain-clothes policemen, a distraught young woman, and half a sherry trifle.
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Jersey Gaol 

The Evening Post

Monday, 13 February 1939

STARTLING SCENE AT JERSEY HOTEL 
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POLICE SWOOP AT LUNCH HOUR
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Two Guests Handcuffed
Thief Gets Away through Window
Alleged Dangerous Gang of Safe Breakers

A letter sent to a girl in Bournemouth led yesterday to the arrest of two members of a gelignite gang wanted for the 'blowing' of a safe at a cooperative store and the theft of £470. A third man got wind of the impending police swoop on the Hotel de la Plage, Havre-Ie-Pas, and escaped.

Residents at La Plage Hotel were at lunch when Centenier C. G. Grant of St Helier, and six members of the paid police in civilian clothing entered and, before most of the lunchers knew what had happened, two men had been handcuffed and chase was being given to the third man, alleged to be the leader of the gang. One of them, apparently more alert than the others, made his escape by way of the windows of the dining room overlooking the promenade and got clean away.

The third man, for whom active search still continues, is described as: — Edward Chapman, alias Arnold Edward Chapman, Edward Arnold Chapman, Edward Edwards and Thompson, a professional dancer, slim build, six feet in height, fresh complexion, small moustache, dressed in white shirt, yellow spotted tie, blue sleeveless pullover, grey flannels and brown sandals and no socks. He is believed to be a dangerous character. He may, by now, have obtained a jacket or an overcoat from somewhere as he has money in his possession.

The search for Chapman goes on and all ships are being watched. Anyone who may see this man or who may know anything of his whereabouts is requested to inform the Police Station immediately.

Although the police soon abandoned the chase, Chapman continued running for a mile or so up the beach before doubling back, and then cutting across the island. He found a school, empty on a Sunday, and hid inside. That evening he strolled back into Havre-le-Pas wearing a mackintosh he had found on a peg, the collar turned up. On the edge of town he checked into a tatty boarding house and shaved off his moustache with a soapy penknife. When he came downstairs, the landlady, Mrs Corfield, demanded cash up-front. Chapman gave her what he had in his pocket, and said he would pay the balance in the morning. Without money he was trapped. He would need to steal some more.

In the darkness, Chapman re-emerged and set off towards the West Park Pavilion nightclub, where the gang had spent the previous night. As soon as her lodger was gone, Mrs Corfield put on her bonnet, and headed down to the police station.

Chapman found the Pavilion deserted. He broke in through a window in the gents' lavatory, discovered the office safe, and carried it to the basement. Turning it upside down, he worked off the bottom with a pickaxe and a pair of pincers from the boiler room of the building. Inside lay £15, 13 shillings and 9d in silver, several pounds in coppers, and twelve ten-shilling notes. Chapman returned to the boarding house, his pockets laden, and went to sleep, resolving to steal or bribe his way onto a boat the next morning.

Tuesday, 14 February 1939 

ALLEGED SAFE BREAKER 
BEFORE COURT 
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WANTED MAN ARRESTED IN BED
CHARGED WITH BREAKING INTO
WEST PARK PAVILION
ACCUSED APPEALS FOR 'GIRL FRIEND'

[image: 1114115517]

The island-wide search for the man Chapman, who escaped when police raided the Hotel de la Plage, is at an end. Chapman, through information received by the St Helier Police, was found last night in bed in a lodging house in Sand Street, and admitted his identity to police constables. He also admitted breaking into West Park Pavilion last night. 

Chapman gave the police no trouble and made a voluntary statement that he had 'done in' the safe.

This morning Chapman appeared before the magistrate, and after being remanded asked if his girlfriend could be allowed to leave the island. 'I have a girlfriend here,' he said, speaking in a cultured tone, 'and she is in a very embarrassing position. She has been cross-examined by police and watched and I would like to ask if these investigations might cease as she knows nothing of why we are here.'
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The Magistrate: 'If she had been wise she would have gone already. We do not want her here. There is nothing against her and she is free to leave the island when she likes.'

The accused was then removed to the cells and his 'girl friend', an attractive blonde with blue eyes and a long page-boy bob, whose name is said to be Betty Farmer, also left the court.'



Betty had suffered many indignities in the preceding forty-eight hours: being searched by the manageress at the Hotel de la Plage, being grilled by those horrible detectives and then having to move to the smaller, cheaper and far scruffier Royal Yacht Hotel. As Chapman was led from the court in handcuffs, she handed one of his guards a love note to pass to him, written on headed hotel paper. He put it in his pocket, grinned and waved.

Breaking into the West Park Pavilion nightclub had been an act of astonishing foolishness but also, on the face of it, an immense stroke of luck. Darry and Anson had already been shipped back to the mainland to face multiple charges at the Central Criminal Court in London. Chapman, however, had broken the law in Jersey, with its ancient legal code and traditions of self-government, and would now have to face island justice.

On 11 March 1939, Edward Chapman appeared before the Royal Court of Jersey and pleaded guilty to charges of house-breaking and larceny. The Attorney General of Jersey, prosecuting, cited Chapman's extensive criminal record and pointed out that the safe-breaking at the nightclub had been 'done with deliberation and skill which showed considerable experience and showed he was determined to rely on this sort of conduct for a living'. He demanded that this 'dangerous criminal who had failed to accept certain chances that had been given to him' receive the maximum sentence of two years' hard labour. The jury agreed.



Jersey Gaol, Chapman soon discovered, was a 'dreary little cage' where the handful of prisoners stuffed mattresses for eight hours a day and slept on planks raised a few feet off the concrete floor. The prison regime was remarkably lax. The governor, Captain Thomas Charles Foster, a retired soldier, regarded prisoners as an inconvenience in an otherwise pleasant life that revolved around visiting his neighbours, sunbathing and fishing. Foster took a shine to the new inmate when Chapman explained he had been a soldier, and he was soon put to work as the governor's personal batman, weeding the garden and cleaning his house, which backed onto the hospital block.

On the sunny afternoon of 7 July, Captain Foster, Mrs Foster, and their eighteen-year-old son, Andrew, climbed into the family car and headed down the coast to St Brelade to attend the Jersey Scottish Society's annual summer fête, a highlight of the island's social calendar. Chapman was instructed to clean the governor's kitchen in his absence. Chief Warder Briard had taken the day off, leaving Warder Packer to mind the shop. Packer unlocked the front gate to allow the governor's car through. Captain Thomas, resplendent in his kilt, muttered as he motored off that Packer should 'keep an eye on Chapman'. 

As the sound of the governor's car faded, Chapman downed his mop, and darted upstairs to the empty bedroom of Andrew Foster. From the young man's wardrobe Chapman extracted a grey pinstripe suit, brown shoes, a brown trilby, and two checked caps made by Leach & Justice of Perth. The suit was a little tight under the arms, but a reasonable fit. He also found a suitcase, into which he packed the governor's spectacles, a jar of sixpences Mrs Foster had been saving, £13 from the governor's desk drawer, a torch and a poker from the fireplace. Climbing through a skylight, he scrambled over the roof, dropped into the hospital compound, scaled a wall topped with glass, and walked away. Mrs Hamon, who worked in the laundry, noticed a figure on the roof, but assumed he must be a workman.

An hour later, Warder Packer — who had been busy flirting with the matron's daughter, Miss Lesbird — casually wandered into the governor's kitchen to see how Chapman was progressing with his chores. He did not worry unduly to find the house empty. 'At that moment,' he recalled, 'I still thought Chapman was playing a joke, and was hiding in the prison.' He searched the garden and the outhouse; then he summoned the other warders to help search the prison. Then he panicked. It took a full two hours to track down Captain Foster at the Scottish Society fête. The Chief Constable was unearthed in the golf club, and a posse led by young Andrew Foster was dispatched to watch the airport. Hotels and boarding houses were scoured, boats were prevented from leaving harbour, and every policeman and volunteer on the island was mobilised for the greatest manhunt in island memory.

Walter Picard, resident of Five Mile Road, was one of the few people on the island unaware that a prisoner had escaped. He had spent the evening under a hedge with a woman who was not Mrs Walter Picard. After this encounter, Picard and his girlfriend were strolling back to his car in the darkness when they were surprised to see a man in an ill-fitting suit bending over the open bonnet of the car, apparently attempting to jump-start it.

The man looked startled, but declared: 'Do you know who I am? I'm a member of the police.' Picard launched himself at the ‘car thief’. His girlfriend screamed. A scuffle ensued: Picard was upended and thrown over a wall and Chapman vanished into the night. On the passenger seat of his car, the shaken Picard found a brown trilby, a torch and three sticks of gelignite.

Chapman had passed a most eventful day. Barely a mile from the prison, Mr A.A. Pitcher had obligingly offered him a lift in his car, and driven him to a public telephone box where he had telephoned the airport, only to be told the last plane for the mainland had departed. Pitcher dropped him off at the pier. After a meal at the Milano Cafe, Chapman had checked into La Pulente Hotel, and ordered a taxi. Telling the Luxicab driver he was 'interested in quarries', Chapman took a tour of the island's mines, and selected his target. That afternoon, when the workers had left L'Etacq Quarry on the western edge of Jersey, Chapman scaled the gate, found the small, reinforced bunker that served as the explosives storehouse, and prised open the door with a crowbar from the quarry tool shed. He emerged with 5lbs of gelignite and 200 detonators. It was while walking down Five Mile Road with his explosive loot that evening that Chapman spotted Walter Picard's parked car and decided to steal it.

Knowing the encounter would be reported immediately, Chapman walked on until he came across an empty bungalow belonging to Frank Le Quesne. He broke in, made himself a cup of tea (using enough tea bags 'for about fifty people', the owner later complained) and fell asleep.

In the meantime, Walter Picard made an edited report to the police, stating that:


He was driving his car on his way home when he was hailed by a young woman, whom he did not recognise, who asked him for a lift as far as a bungalow on the Five Mile Road. He replied that he would take her as far as his house; he did so but she then persuaded him to drive her further on and some little distance along the road his lights failed for no apparent reason. He stopped the car and his passenger then told him that the bungalow she wished to get to was fairly close and asked him to walk as far with her. After some demur he complied with her requests, but only went half way and then, turning round, saw the lights of his car had come on again. He approached the car and saw a tall man bending over the ignition. The stranger turned round and struck him and then made off.

Even the police found Picard's elaborate story 'strange', and what Mrs Picard made of it can only be imagined.

Early next morning, a fisherman carrying a large shrimping net could be seen striding purposefully along Plemont beach. Closer inspection would have revealed that beneath the fishing overalls the man was wearing business attire, and beneath that, a striped bathing suit belonging to Frank Le Quesne. Chapman had calculated that with holidaymakers enjoying the summer sun, a bathing suit might be a good disguise. In his pockets he carried enough explosives to wage a small war.

Later that morning, the divinely named Mrs Gordon Bennet reported that a man more or less fitting the description of the escaped prisoner had visited her tearooms on the cliff overlooking the beach. Centenier Percy Laurie, a volunteer policeman, and Police Constable William Golding were sent to investigate. Both were in plain clothes. Golding decided to explore the beach, while Laurie searched the caves in the cliffside. On the sand some holidaymakers were playing football, observed, from a short distance, by a tall fisherman with a net. Golding approached the spectator. 'Your name is Chapman,' he said.

'My name is not Chapman,' said the fisherman, backing off 'You are making a great mistake.'

'Are you coming quietly?'

'You had better take me,' he replied. As Golding seized his arm, Chapman shouted that he was being assaulted, and called on the footballers to come to his aid. Laurie emerged from the caves, and ran to help, several spectators weighed in, and a free-for-all ensued, with the policemen trying to get the handcuffs on Chapman as they, in turn, were attacked by a crowd of semi-naked holidaymakers. The fracas ended when Golding managed to land a punch to Chapman's midriff. 'This appeared to distress him,' said Golding. Chapman's distress also doubtless came from the knowledge that he had eight sticks of gelignite and fifteen detonators in his pockets; a blow in the wrong place would have destroyed him, the policemen, the footballers and most of Plemont beach.

The Evening Post

Friday, 6 July 1939

PRISONER'S ESCAPE FROM GAOL
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DRAMATIC STORY OF ISLAND-WIDE SEARCH
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ALLEGED ATTACK ON MOTORIST 
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GELIGNITE STOLEN FROM QUARRY STORE
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CAPTURED AFTER FIGHT ON BEACH WITH POLICE CONSTABLE 



After having been at liberty less than 24 hours, a prisoner escaped from the public prison was recaptured. Every available police officer in the island had been on duty continuously in an island-wide search.
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The missing man was Edward Chapman, possessor of several aliases and a record of previous convictions. He was described as a dangerous man and associate of thieves and dangerous characters and an expert in the use of dynamite.

Chapman was arrested at two o'clock this afternoon after a stand-up fight with a police constable on the sands at Plémont. When the prison van arrived a large crowd waited to catch a glimpse of Chapman. He appeared perfectly composed and looked around with interest at the people, a smile flitting across his face.

Later, the constable of St Helier expressed his warm appreciation of all ranks of the police who had assisted in the most thrilling man-hunt which has taken place in Jersey for some years.

Captain Foster, the prison governor, was both enraged and humiliated. The prison board castigated him for his 'gross misconduct [in] permitting a prisoner with such deplorable criminal antecedents as Chapman so much unsupervised liberty'. Foster took out his anger on the warders, the prisoners and above all on Chapman, who was brought back to the prison and harangued by the governor, who bitterly accused him of inventing a military past to ingratiate himself: 'You have never been a soldier as you informed me, you are therefore a liar and you deserve a flogging,' he bawled. 'Why did you do it?' Chapman thought for a moment, and gave the only honest reply. 'One, I don't like prison discipline; and two, since I am sure of more imprisonment on completion of my present sentence in England, I thought I would make one job of the lot.'

Back in his cell, Chapman made a bleak calculation. On his release he would be sent back to the mainland and tried on a string of charges, just like Darry and Anson, who were now in Dartmoor. Depending on what Scotland Yard could prove, Chapman reckoned he would be in one prison or another for the next fourteen years.

The Jersey community was close knit and law abiding, and the legal authorities took a dim view of this convict who dared to steal from its prison governor, throw its inhabitants over walls, and provoke pitched battles with its policemen.

On 6 September 1939, Chapman was brought before the Criminal Assizes and sentenced to a further year in prison, to run consecutively with his earlier conviction. The news of his sentencing, somewhat to Chapman's irritation, merited only a single paragraph in the Evening Post, for by now the people of Jersey had other concerns. Three days earlier, Britain had declared war on Germany.
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Island at War 

All wars — but this war in particular-tend to be seen in monochrome: good and evil, winner and loser, champion and coward, loyalist and traitor. For most people, the reality of war is not like that, but rather a monotonous grey of discomforts and compromises, with occasional flashes of violent colour. War is too messy to produce easy heroes and villains; there are always brave people on the wrong side, and evil men among the victors, and a mass of perfectly ordinary people struggling to survive and understand in between. Away from the battlefields, war forces individuals to make impossible choices in circumstances they did not create, and could never have expected. Most accommodate, some collaborate, and a very few find an internal compass they never knew they had, pointing to the right path.

News of the war barely penetrated the granite walls of Jersey prison. The prison slop, always repulsive, grew ever nastier with rationing. Some of the warders left to join up, and those that remained provided fragmentary, unreliable information. The Nazi Blitzkrieg, first the invasion of Denmark and Norway in April 1940, then France, Belgium, Luxembourg and the Netherlands, did not touch Chapman; his was a world just 6-feet square. When the Germans entered Paris on 14 June 1940, he was barely midway through his three-year sentence.

Chapman read all 200 books in the prison library, and then reread them. With some aged grammar books, he set about teaching himself French and improving his German. He memorised the poems of Tennyson, and read H.G. Wells's Outlineof History, a textbook purporting to describe the past but imbued with that writer's philosophy. He was particularly struck by Wells's idea of a 'federal world state' in which all nations would work in harmony: 'Nationalism as a God must follow the tribal gods to limbo. Our true nationality is mankind,' Wells had written. Meanwhile, the evil god of National Socialism marched ever closer.

Chapman read and reread Betty's love-note on the Royal Yacht Hotel letterhead. But soon another letter arrived that temporarily extinguished thoughts of Betty. From an address in Southend-on-Sea, Freda Stevenson, the dancer with whom he had been living in Shepherd's Bush, wrote to inform Chapman that he was now the father of a one-year-old girl, born in Southend Municipal hospital in July 1939, whom she had christened Diane Shayne. She enclosed a photograph of mother and child. Freda explained that she was desperately poor, barely surviving on wartime rations, and asked Chapman to send money. Chapman asked for permission to write to her but Captain Foster refused, out of spite. Freda's unanswered letters became increasingly anguished, then angry. Frustrated at his inability to help Freda or hold his first child, and cut off from the rest of humanity in a sea-bound prison, Chapman sank into bleak depression.



The Evening Post

Saturday, 29 June 1940 

FIERCE AIR RAIDS ON CHANNEL ISLANDS
HARBOURS BOMBED 

HEAVY CASUALTIES IN BOTH ISLANDS

Nine people are known to have been killed and many injured in a bombing and machine gun attack carried out by at least three German aircraft over Jersey last night.

The Harbour was the chief objective and a bomb struck the pier, causing considerable damage to property belonging solely to civilians . . .

Chapman was lying on his plank bed when he heard the first Luftwaffe planes droning overhead. Three days later, the Channel Islands earned the unhappy distinction of becoming the only part of Britain to be occupied by Germany during the Second World War. There was no resistance, for the last defending troops had pulled out. Most of the population opted to remain. Chapman was not offered a choice. Idly, he wondered whether a bomb might hit the prison, offering either death or the chance of escape. The British inhabitants of Jersey were instructed to offer no resistance and the bailiff, Alexander Moncrieff Coutanche, who had presided over Chapman's trial, told them to obey German orders, return home and fly the white flag of surrender. Hitler had decided Jersey would make an ideal holiday camp, once Germany had won the war.

With German occupation, the Jersey prison service was simply absorbed into the Nazi administration, along with the police. Sealed away behind stone and iron, the prisoners were forgotten. The prison food became more meagre than ever, as the free inhabitants of Jersey competed for the few resources allowed them by the German invaders. There were no more letters from Freda. Chapman consoled himself with the reflection that as long as the Germans controlled Jersey when he was finally released, they could not send him back to the waiting manacles.

The Germans ran their own courts, parallel to the civil judiciary. In December 1940, a young dishwasher from the Miramar Hotel, named Anthony Charles Faramus, fell foul of both. A Jersey islander with a reputation as a tear a way, twenty-year-old Faramus was sentenced to six months by the Jersey court for obtaining £9 under false pretenses by claiming an allowance for a non-existent dependent. The German field court slapped on a further month after Faramus was found to be carrying an anti-German propaganda leaflet.

A furtive, delicate man, with a pencil moustache and darting grey eyes, Faramus was a strange but likeable fellow. He was a hopeless crook, Chapman reflected. He blushed easily, and exuded a 'sort of dispossessed gentleness', though he possessed a sharp, obscene wit. Tall and slender, he looked as if a puff of wind might carry him off. He had worked as a hairdresser in a salon in St Helier, before taking a job at the hotel. Chapman and Faramus became cellmates, and firm friends.

On 15 October 1941, a few weeks short of his twenty-sixth birthday, Chapman was finally released. Gaunt and paper-faced, his weight had fallen to just nine stone. Faramus, released a few months earlier, was waiting for him at the prison gates. Chapman knew nothing of the Nazi invasion of Greece and Yugoslavia, the sinking of the Bismarck or the siege of Leningrad, but the effects of war were visible in the transformation of Jersey. On his last day of freedom, Chapman had wandered a beach thronged with happy, well-fed holidaymakers. Now, it was an island ground down by occupation, exhausted and hungry, beset by all the moral confusion that comes from the choice between resistance, acquiescence or collaboration.

Faramus had rented a small shop on Broad Street in St Helier, and with a few chairs, some old mirrors, scissors and razors, he and Chapman opened what they referred to, rather grandly, as a hairdressing salon. Their clientele mainly comprised German officers, since the Channel Islands — Hitler's stepping stone to Britain — were now a vast, heavily defended barracks, home to the largest infantry regiment in the German army.

Faramus shaved German beards and cut German hair, while Chapman made polite conversation in basic German. One of the few British regulars was a middle-aged former bookmaker from Birmingham by the name of Douglas Stirling. An opportunist of the sort produced by every war, Stirling was a black-marketeer, buying cigarettes, tea and alcohol from the Germans, and then selling these on at a profit to local people. The barber's shop was the ideal front for what soon became a thriving trade that combined illegal profiteering with grooming the enemy.

One morning, setting out on his bicycle from the flat he shared with Faramus above the shop, Chapman momentarily forgot that a new German law required everyone to drive on the right and rode straight into a German motorcycle dispatch rider hurtling around a corner. Neither man was hurt, but the German was furious. Chapman was duly summoned to the police station and interrogated by three officers of the Feldgendarmerie, the German military police. One of these, a small man who spoke good English, eyed Chapman unpleasantly and said: 'Look, we've reason to believe you've got some German arms. Now, where is the German rifle?'

'I haven't got any German rifles,' Chapman replied, bemused. 

'Have you any arms?'

'No' 

'Now look, we've got our eyes on you, so if you try any trouble, we'll make trouble too. I'm only warning you.'

'Thanks for the warning,' Chapman replied, and left swiftly. This was no warning; it was a threat. He was fined eighty Reichsmarks for the traffic violation, but more worryingly the interview seemed to suggest he had been singled out as a suspected member of the resistance, or even a saboteur. The run-in with the Feldgendarmerie had unsettled him, and set Chapman thinking of another plan to get him off this island prison. He outlined his idea to Faramus and Douglas Stirling. What if they offered to work as spies for the Nazis? If they were accepted there was surely a chance they might be sent over to mainland Britain, undercover. At the very least it would break the monotony. Stirling was enthusiastic, saying that he would suggest the ruse to his son. Faramus was more cautious, but agreed the plan was worth a shot.

Peering back with many years of hindsight, Chapman admitted that his motives in 1941 were hazy and confused. He would later claim that the offer to spy for Germany was prompted by the simple and sincere desire to escape and be united with Diane, the child he had never seen: 'If I could work a bluff with the Germans, I could probably be sent over to Britain,' he wrote. But Chapman understood his own nature well enough to know that there was more to his decision than this. 'It all sounds fine talk, now,' he later admitted. 'Perhaps it was phony talk even then, and I don't pretend there were no other motives in the plans I began to turn over in my mind. They did not occur to me, either, in one moment, or in one mood.' He felt a genuine animus towards the British establishment. Like many justly imprisoned criminals, he saw himself as the victim of cruel discrimination. Moreover, he was impressed by the discipline and general politeness of the Germans in their smart uniforms. Nazi propaganda relentlessly insisted that their forces were invincible, and the occupation permanent. Chapman was hungry, he was bored, and he longed for excitement. In his Soho days he had mixed with film stars, and he had long imagined himself as the central character in his own drama. He had played the part of a high-rolling gangster. Now, he recast himself in the glamorous role of spy. There was little thought, if any, given to whether such a course was right or wrong. That would come later.

Chapman and Faramus composed a letter in carefully wrought German, and sent it to the German Command post in St Helier, addressed to General Otto von Stulpnägel, the senior officer in command of the occupation forces in France and the Channel Islands. A few days later Faramus and Chapman were summoned to the office of a German major, where Chapman blithely explained that he and his friend would like to join the German secret service. He listed his crimes, stressed the outstanding warrants he faced in Britain, emphasised his expertise with explosives, and concluded with a spirited anti-British rant. 'His whole theme was revenge,' Faramus wrote later. 'He said he had no time for the English ruling class, and sought only a chance to get even with them.' The major nodded blandly, while a secretary took notes and wrote down the young men's names and addresses. The matter, said the major, would be discussed with 'senior officers'.

After that, nothing seemed to happen. Over the next few days Chapman made a point every time a German came into the shop of reciting a 'tale of loathing for the society that had hounded him, and his hatred for the English and all their works', in the hope that word would filter back to the German authorities. But the days passed, and still no word came from the General von Stulpnägel. Clearly their application had been rejected, or merely ignored, on the longstanding principle that anyone who applies to join an espionage service should be rejected.

Chapman had all but forgotten the plan — and was busy hatching a fresh scheme to open up a nightclub serving black-market alcohol — when, one damp evening in December, he and Faramus were roused from their beds by a furious hammering at the door and the sound of raised German voices. On the doorstep stood two German officers. Chapman's immediate assumption was that the application to spy for Germany had borne fruit. He could not have been more wrong. These were not members of the German intelligence service, but the Gestapo. Chapman and Faramus were not being recruited, but arrested. They were handcuffed, bundled into a Vauxhall waiting in the drizzle, and driven to the dock. The senior officer, a captain, or Hauptmann, brusquely informed the pair that they were now prisoners, and if they attempted to escape they would be shot. From the car they were marched onto a small landing barge and manacled to an iron bar bolted to the wheelhouse. The boat engine roared and swung out of the port, heading due south, with the coast of France faintly visible through the drizzle. The Gestapo officers sat in the warmth below decks, while Chapman and Faramus shivered in the biting rain.

The next few hours passed in a miasmic rush of fear and movement: the port at St Malo in the chill dawn; two hours handcuffed to a bench in the police station where a gendarme slipped them a baguette and some stale cheese; locked inside a compartment on the train to Paris; and finally, arrival at the Gare du Nord, where a military truck and armed escort awaited them. The German guards would not speak and shrugged off every question. Faramus was white with terror, moaning gently, his head in his hands, as they sped with their silent Gestapo escort through the broad boulevards of the occupied French capital. Finally, the truck passed through a broad gateway with iron gates draped in huge ringlets of barbed wire, and into another prison. 

Much later, Chapman discovered what had happened. In the weeks before his arrest, several telephone wires on the island had been cut, the latest in a series of small acts of sabotage. The German authorities had consulted the Jersey police, some of whom were now active collaborators. These immediately pointed the finger at Chapman and Faramus, the most notorious of the usual suspects. Chapman reflected ruefully: 'The British police told them that if there was any trouble, I was probably in it.'


For the young criminal this was an entirely new experience: he had been arrested for a crime he had not committed.
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Romainville 

The Fort de Romainville glowers over the eastern suburbs of Paris. A brutal stone giant, by 1941 it had been made into another Nazi vision of hell. Built in the 1830s on a low hill, the hulking bastion was part of the defensive ring constructed around Paris to protect the city from foreign attack, but it also held troops who could be deployed in the event of popular insurrection — a bloated, moated, impregnable monstrosity. For the Nazis, the ancient fort served a similar psychological purpose, as a hostage camp, a place of interrogation, torture and summary execution, and a visible symbol of intimidation, inescapable in every way. Romainville was 'death's waiting room', a prison for civilians — resistance fighters, political prisoners, prominent Jews, communists and intellectuals, suspected spies, political subversives and 'trouble-makers', as well as those who had simply failed to show sufficient deference to the new rulers of France.

This shifting prison population formed an important element in the brutal arithmetic of Nazi occupation: in reprisal for each act of resistance a number of prisoners would be selected from the cells, and shot. An attack on German soldiers at the Rex Cinema in Paris, for example, was calculated to be worth the lives of 116 Romainville hostages. The more serious the incident of defiance, the higher the death toll at the hostage depot. Sometimes, hostages were told which specific act had cost them their lives. Mostly, they were not.

Chapman and Faramus, political prisoners and suspected saboteurs, were stripped, clad in prison overalls, and then taken before the camp commandant, Kapitan Brüchenbach, a stocky little man with thick glasses and eyes 'like two bullet holes in a metal door'. Brüchenbach grunted that he had orders from the Gestapo to detain them until further notice. The fastidious Faramus noted that the man 'stank of drink'.

They were then marched to a barrack building surrounded by a 12-foot barbed-wire fence, and guarded at either end by sentries with searchlights and machine guns. The men were pushed into a room, unheated and lit by a single bulb, containing half a dozen empty bunks, and locked inside. As they lay on rotting straw mattresses, the friends discussed their chances of survival, one with brittle optimism, the other in deepest gloom. 

'How would you like to be shot, Eddie?' asked Faramus.

'I don't think I'd mind so terribly as all that,' came the self deluding reply. 'I've had a pretty good life.'

The next morning, as they filed into the courtyard, Chapman and Faramus learned from the whispers of their fellow prisoners that sixteen people had been executed that morning, in retaliation for the assassination of a German officer in Nantes by members of the resistance. On the door of each cell was a warning: 'Alles Verboten', everything is forbidden. This was no exaggeration. The writing and receiving of letters was not permitted. Red Cross and Quaker parcels were intercepted. The beatings were ferocious, and unexplained. Denied contact with the world outside, the inmates measured time by the movements of the guards and the traffic in the distant Paris streets. Rations were strict and unvarying: a pint of watery vegetable soup, four ounces of black bread and an ounce of rancid margarine or cheese. At first, the two newcomers fished the maggots out of the soup; after a few days they, like everyone else, sucked it all down.

The male and female inmates were allowed to mix in the fort's giant courtyard but sexual relations were strictly forbidden, as one of the guards made clear on their first day with an elaborate, multilingual charade: 'Madame prisonniers. Parler, promenade, ja! Aber NIX, verboten, fig-fig — Nix!' And then, in case of any lingering confusion on the matter, he added: 'NIX. Keine fig-fig!' To Chapman, this sounded like a challenge.

The inmates of Fort Romainville were a peculiar assortment: rich and poor, brave and treacherous, guilty and innocent. Chapman and Faramus were the only Englishmen. There was Paulette, a blonde woman who had been arrested for espionage; Ginette, whose husband had already been executed for spying. Other women were being held as hostages for husbands or fathers who had joined the Free French, or were known to be active in the resistance. There was Kahn, a wealthy German-Jewish banker, along with Michelin — the tyre magnate — two Belgian diamond merchants, and a mysterious individual called Leutsch, a German-speaking Swiss journalist who wore horn-rimmed spectacles and claimed to have worked for British intelligence. Among the French prisoners were the former Minister of Information and a radio journalist named Le François, jailed for refusing to broadcast German propaganda. One woman, a waitress from a cafe in Montparnasse, was there, she claimed, because she had slapped an SS officer who had fondled her. One old fellow named Weiss, a multilingual eccentric with a pathological fear of water, had been arrested for writing an article discussing how a defeated Germany should be partitioned. Many had simply fallen foul of the invaders. Some claimed to have no idea why they were there.

Every inmate had a different story, yet all guarded their words; some declined to reveal their identities beyond a first name. For the prison was also riddled with informers, stoolpigeons whose task it was to winkle the truth from spies and agitators, and then expose them. Among the inmates, suspicion fell heavily on a Belgian named Bossuet. He claimed to have been born in Cardiff, and could spoke English well, though laced with slang. At first Chapman had warmed to the Belgian, only to be told that Bossuet was a 'professional denouncer', a mouchard, who had earned himself the nickname 'Black Diamond'. It was rumoured that his betrayals had sent twenty-two prisoners to their deaths. Most inmates shunned him and some attacked him when the guards were not looking. Eventually Bossuet was removed from the prison. This was seen as proof of Bossuet's guilt, but it was part of the regime of neurosis at Romainville that prisoners arrived and were removed without warning or explanation. A middle-aged man called Dreyfus, a Jewish descendant of the other famous victim of anti-semitism, was briefly held, and then inexplicably released. Immediately it was assumed that he must have turned traitor. 'It wasn't safe to talk to anyone,' Chapman reflected. 'No one knew who was who. No one would talk.'

Yet alongside the corrosive atmosphere of fear and distrust existed an equally powerful urge for intimacy. The ban on sex between prisoners was not just ignored, but violated with abandon. Men and women sought every opportunity: in the washrooms, under the stairs, in the coal store and the darker corners of the courtyard. The barrack rooms had not been designed as cells, and the locks were simple to pick. Elaborate plans were hatched by the inmates to find sexual release. No one ever escaped from Romainville, but here was a way to escape, briefly. Within weeks of arriving in Romainville, Chapman had paired off with the blonde Paulette, who was some ten years his senior, while Faramus had begun a sexual relationship with another female inmate named Lucy. Looking back, both men certainly exaggerated the extent of their 'conquests'. Chapman, more worldly than his partner, seemed to accept the strange merging of sex and fear as the natural order but Faramus, a sexual ingènue, was insistent that these 'were real love affairs, passionate and sincere'. In this closed and treacherous society, where death came without warning or explanation, sexual expression was the only remaining liberty.

While Chapman and Faramus were devising complicated trysts with the female prisoners, their offer to spy for Germany, now long forgotten by them, was slowly progressing through the German military bureaucracy. From Jersey their letter had passed to Berlin, then on to the branch of the German secret service at Hamburg, then back to Jersey again. Chapman was serving two weeks' solitary confinement in the fort dungeons when the letter finally caught up with him, in December 1941. Chapman had been consigned to the cachots, the underground cells, after a fight with the hated Bossuet. Prisoners in solitary received one meal of bread and soup every three days. Chapman's cell was lightless, freezing and sodden. In an effort to conserve his body heat, he scraped the gravel from the floor and covered himself with it up to the neck.

Chapman was a week into his sentence in solitary, when he was pulled from the dungeon, escorted under guard to Brüchenbach's office, and locked in a back room. Moments later he was confronted by an SS officer who carefully locked the door behind him. The visitor was tall and spare, with pale blue eyes and hollow cheeks, streaked with broken red veins. He stood looking at Chapman for several moments before he spoke. Then, in perfect English, without a hint of accent, he introduced himself as Oberleutnant Walter Thomas. Without preamble or explanation, he sat down at a desk and began to interrogate Chapman about his past crimes, his experience with explosives, his imprisonment in Jersey, and his proficiency in German. Occasionally he referred to a file. He seemed to know every detail of Chapman's criminal record, not only the crimes for which he had been sentenced, but those for which he was only suspected. The officer spoke with familiarity of Britain, of Chapman's years in Soho, his arrest in Edinburgh and his flight to Jersey; as he spoke, he twined the long fingers of his hands. His expression did not change, but he seemed satisfied by Chapman's answers. Chapman reflected later that his interrogator seemed 'the scholarly, staid' type. After an hour the man indicated that the meeting was over, and Chapman was escorted from the office, not back to the punishment dungeon, but to the barrack room.

'What happened?' Faramus asked, astonished by Chapman's early release from solitary.

Chapman swore him to secrecy and then described his encounter with the SS officer. It must mean, he continued, that their offer to work for Germany had provoked a response at last. 'All right for you,' said Faramus, suddenly fearful. 'They're sure to make use of you. But what about me? What am I worth to them?' Chapman tried to reassure the younger man, but both knew Faramus was right. The Nazis might conceivably find a use for a fit, wily and experienced criminal, with a long record and a convincing reason for hating the British establishment. But what use could the Third Reich find for a slight, twenty-year-old hairdresser whose sole crime had been a failed attempt to acquire £9 by deceit?

Further evidence of the Nazis' interest in Chapman surfaced a few days later, in the form of a military photographer with a Leica camera, who took dozens of pictures of the prisoner, full face and in profile, and then departed.

In early January 1942, Chapman was once more summoned to the Kommandant's office. This time his interrogator could not have been more different to the dead-eyed Oberleutnant Thomas. Arranged across the Kommandant's armchair was a vision of female loveliness: with large brown eyes, long red-painted fingernails, and an expensive black lambswool coat by her side she looked, to Chapman's mind, as if she had just stepped off a film set. Chapman was momentarily stunned by the apparition. Standing alongside her was a man in civilian clothes. Chapman noted his athletic physique and suntanned face; with their elegant apparel and faintly bored expressions, they might have been modelling for a fashion shoot.

The man asked questions in German, which the woman translated into English, with an American accent. There was no attempt to disguise why they had come. Chapman was peppered with questions about what work he thought he could do for the German secret service, and his motives for offering to do so. They demanded to know how much he expected to be paid, and what he would be prepared to do if sent back to Britain undercover. The woman smoked cigarette after cigarette from a long black holder. 'Supposing you didn't feel like coming back to us?' she asked suddenly.

'You'd have to trust me,' Chapman replied.

As the woman picked up her coat to leave, Chapman spotted the label inside: Schiaparelli, the Italian designer. Clearly, he reflected, Nazi spies — if that is what this couple were — could afford the height of fashion.

For a few weeks, normal prison routine resumed, broken only by the ferocious RAF bombardment of the huge Renault factory at Boulogne-Billancourt directly across the Seine from Romainville. The factory was now part of the Nazi munitions machine, making lorries for the German army. On 3 March, the RAF launched 235 low-level bombers at the plant, the largest number of aircraft aimed at a single target during the war. From the barrack windows, Chapman and Faramus saw flares, tracer and flak light up the night, felt the crump of explosive tremble through air, and watched as the city sky turned an evil orange. Chapman could sense his companion's fear. 'They'll probably send you to a civilian internee camp,' he said. 'Or maybe keep you here — if they accept me. Listen Tony, don't worry: leave it to me. Trust me.'

The two Englishmen had been in Romainville for almost four months when Chapman was taken to Brüchenbach's office for what would be the last time. Waiting for him was Oberleutnant Thomas, but this time accompanied by a more senior officer, dressed in the uniform of a cavalry Rittmeister, the equivalent of a captain. At his throat he wore the Iron Cross. Oberleutnant Thomas introduced him as 'Herr Doktor Stephan Graumann'. With an almost courtly gesture, Graumann invited Chapman to be seated, and then began to interrogate him in precise, old fashioned English, in a soft voice with an upper-class British accent. He asked how Chapman had been treated in Romainville. When the Englishman described his time in the cachots on Brüchenbach's orders, Graumann sneered and remarked that the Kommandant was 'simply a trained brute'.

Graumann had a lofty, yet benevolent air, and Chapman found himself warming to the man. He often smiled to himself, as if enjoying a private joke. He would consider Chapman's answers carefully, leaning back in his chair, the index finger of one hand hooked into the side pocket of his uniform, the other stroking his thinning hair. From time to time he would don thick-rimmed spectacles and peer at the open file in front of him. Chapman decided he must be a 'a man of understanding and tolerance'.

Graumann quizzed Chapman once more about his past: his catalogue of crimes, his grasp of German and French, the members of the Jelly Gang and their current whereabouts. Time after time he returned to the question of whether Chapman was motivated more by hatred of Britain or by the promise of financial gain. Chapman responded that both were factors in his desire to spy for Germany. The interrogation continued for three hours.

Finally Graumann fixed Chapman with his watery blue eyes and came to the point. If Chapman would agree to be trained in sabotage, wireless telegraphy and intelligence work and then undertake a mission to Britain, he could promise him a substantial financial reward on his return. Chapman agreed on the spot. He then asked whether Tony Faramus would be coming too. Graumann's reply was blunt. Faramus was 'no use' to the German secret service. Graumann picked his words carefully: 'In times of war we must be careful, and one of you must remain here.' Though his language was opaque, Graumann's meaning was obvious: Faramus would remain behind, as a hostage for Chapman's good behaviour.

As they shook hands, Chapman noticed the fat gold ring with five black dots on Graumann's little finger, and remarked to himself on the softness of his hands. These were hands that had never known manual labour. The voice, the hands, the signet ring: clearly, the man must be some sort of aristocrat. If Chapman could avoid getting into any more trouble, Graumann remarked in the doorway, he would be out of Romainville in two weeks. Chapman returned to his barrack-cell elated, but also troubled by the veiled 'half-threat' to Faramus. He did not relate the German's words to his cell-mate, but the news that Chapman would soon be leaving alone left the younger man in no doubt that his position was perilous. 'Supposing you slip up,' Faramus pointed out. 'Then I'll be the one to get it in the neck. What if once you have set foot in England, you don't want to come back, Eddie? I don't fancy being shot. Besides, I'm too young to die.'

Chapman tried to reassure him. 'Look here, Tony, let me play this my way. I am gambling with my own life, too, don't forget.' The truth of the remark was undeniable: their fates were now linked. Most Romainville victims never discovered why they had been chosen for death. If Faramus was shot, he would know he had been betrayed by Eddie Chapman. Privately, Faramus reflected that 'agreeing to play Eddie's game might cost me my life'. Could this ‘bold bluff’ possibly succeed? 'Desperately and fearfully,' Faramus wrote, 'I hoped so, for my sake as well as his.' 

On 18 April 1942, Chapman was escorted from his cell. 'Goodbye and good luck,' he said, slapping Faramus on the back and grinning. 'Look me up in London after the war!'

'Goodbye and good luck,' replied the Jerseyman, as brightly as he could.

Chapman was met in the Kommandant's office by Oberleutnant Thomas. The few possessions he had brought from Jersey were returned to him, along with his civilian clothes, while Bruchenbach signed the release papers. Chapman walked out of Romainville gates, and was ushered by Thomas into a waiting car. He was free. But as Thomas observed, as they settled into the back seat and the driver headed west, this was freedom of a very particular sort. 'You are among friends and we are going to help you,' said the German officer, in his clipped, precise English. 'So please do not try anything silly like attempting to escape, because I am armed.' From now on, Thomas added, when in public, Chapman should speak only German.

At Gare Montparnasse, the duo transferred to a reserved first-class compartment on the train for Nantes. In the dining car, Chapman gorged himself. The ascetic-looking Thomas ate little, so Chapman finished his supper for him.

It was evening when the train pulled into Nantes, France's western port where the great Loire flows towards the Atlantic. A burly young man in civilian clothes with an impressively broken nose was waiting on the platform. He introduced himself as 'Leo', picked up Oberleutnant Thomas's suitcase and Chapman's bag of belongings, and led the way to where a large Mercedes awaited them.

Chapman sank into the leather upholstery, as Leo drove the car at high speed through Nante's winding cobbled streets, and then out into open countryside, heading northwest, past neat farms and meadows dotted with Limousin cows. At a roadside village cafè, a handful of peasants watched expressionless, as the Mercedes sped past. After some seven kilometres, Leo slowed and turned right. They passed what appeared to be a factory and crossed over a railway bridge, before coming to a stop in front of a pair of green iron gates with a high wall on either side. A thick screen of poplar trees shielded from view whatever was behind the wall. Leo hailed the uniformed sentry, who unlocked the gates.

Down a short drive, the car came to rest before a large stone mansion. Chapman was led inside and upstairs to a book-lined study. Here a familiar figure in a three-piece pinstriped suit sat hunched writing over a desk. 'Welcome to the Villa de la Bretonnière,' said Dr Graumann, rising to shake Chapman's hand. 'Come and have a glass of really good brandy.'
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